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must be maintained for the current 
year and six prior years, unless a 
longer time is required under § 158.501 
of this subpart. 

Subpart F—Federal Civil Penalties 
§ 158.601 General rule regarding the 

imposition of civil penalties. 
If any issuer fails to comply with the 

requirements of this part, civil pen-
alties, as described in this subpart, 
may be imposed. 

§ 158.602 Basis for imposing civil pen-
alties. 

Civil penalties. For the violations list-
ed in this paragraph, HHS may impose 
civil penalties in the amounts specified 
in § 158.606 of this subpart on any issuer 
who fails to do the following: 

(a) Submit to HHS a report con-
cerning the data required under this 
part by the deadline established by 
HHS. 

(b) Submit to HHS a substantially 
complete or accurate report concerning 
the data required under this part. 

(c) Timely and accurately pay re-
bates owing pursuant to this part. 

(d) Respond to HHS inquiries as part 
of an investigation of issuer non-com-
pliance. 

(e) Maintain records as required 
under this part for the periodic audit-
ing of books and records used in com-
piling data reported to HHS and in cal-
culating and paying rebates pursuant 
to this part. 

(f) Allow access and entry to prem-
ises, facilities and records that pertain 
to any aspect of the data reported to 
HHS or to rebates calculated and paid 
pursuant to this part. 

(g) Comply with corrective actions 
resulting from audit findings. 

(h) Accurately and truthfully rep-
resent data, reports or other informa-
tion that it furnishes to a State or 
HHS. 

§ 158.603 Notice to responsible entities. 
If HHS learns of a potential violation 

described in § 158.602 of this subpart or 
if a State informs HHS of a potential 
violation prior to imposing any civil 
monetary penalty HHS must provide 
written notice to the issuer, to include 
the following: 

(a) Describe the potential violation. 
(b) Provide 30 days from the date of 

the notice for the responsible entity to 
respond and to provide additional in-
formation to refute an alleged viola-
tion. 

(c) State that a civil monetary pen-
alty may be assessed if the allegations 
are not, as determined by HHS, re-
futed. 

§ 158.604 Request for extension. 
In circumstances in which an entity 

cannot prepare a response to HHS 
within the 30 days provided in the no-
tice, the entity may make a written re-
quest for an extension from HHS de-
tailing the reason for the extension re-
quest and showing good cause. If HHS 
grants the extension, the responsible 
entity must respond to the notice with-
in the time frame specified in HHS’s 
letter granting the extension of time. 
Failure to respond within 30 days, or 
within the extended time frame, may 
result in HHS’s imposition of a civil 
monetary penalty based upon its deter-
mination of a potential violation de-
scribed in § 158.602 of this subpart. 

§ 158.605 Responses to allegations of 
noncompliance. 

In determining whether to impose a 
civil monetary penalty, HHS may re-
view and consider documentation pro-
vided in any complaint or other infor-
mation, as well as any additional infor-
mation provided by the responsible en-
tity to demonstrate that it has com-
plied with Affordable Care Act require-
ments. The following are examples of 
documentation that a potential respon-
sible entity may submit for HHS’s con-
sideration in determining whether a 
civil monetary penalty should be as-
sessed and the amount of any civil 
monetary penalty: 

(a) Any evidence that refutes an al-
leged noncompliance. 

(b) Evidence that the entity did not 
know, and exercising due diligence 
could not have known, of the violation. 

(c) Evidence documenting the devel-
opment and implementation of inter-
nal policies and procedures by an issuer 
to ensure compliance with the Afford-
able Care Act requirements regarding 
MLR. Those policies and procedures 
may include or consist of a voluntary 
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compliance program. Any such pro-
gram should do the following: 

(1) Effectively articulate and dem-
onstrate the fundamental mission of 
compliance and the issuer’s commit-
ment to the compliance process. 

(2) Include the name of the individual 
in the organization responsible for 
compliance. 

(3) Include an effective monitoring 
system to identify practices that do 
not comply with Affordable Care Act 
requirements regarding MLRs and to 
provide reasonable assurance that 
fraud, abuse, and systemic errors are 
detected in a timely manner. 

(4) Address procedures to improve in-
ternal policies when noncompliant 
practices are identified. 

(d) Evidence documenting the enti-
ty’s record of previous compliance with 
Affordable Care Act requirements re-
garding MLRs. 

§ 158.606 Amount of penalty—general. 
A civil monetary penalty for each 

violation of § 158.602 of this subpart 
may not exceed $100 as adjusted annu-
ally under 45 CFR part 102 for each day, 
for each responsible entity, for each in-
dividual affected by the violation. Pen-
alties imposed under this part are in 
addition to any other penalties pre-
scribed or allowed by law. 

[75 FR 74921, Dec. 1, 2010, as amended at 81 
FR 61581, Sept. 6, 2016] 

§ 158.607 Factors HHS uses to deter-
mine the amount of penalty. 

In determining the amount of any 
penalty, HHS may take into account 
the following: 

(a) The entity’s previous record of com-
pliance. This may include any of the 
following: 

(1) Any history of prior violations by 
the responsible entity, including 
whether, at any time before determina-
tion of the current violation(s), HHS or 
any State found the responsible entity 
liable for civil or administrative sanc-
tions in connection with a violation of 
Affordable Care Act requirements re-
garding minimum loss ratios. 

(2) Evidence that the responsible en-
tity has never had a complaint for non-
compliance with Affordable Care Act 
requirements regarding MLRs filed 
with a State or HHS. 

(3) Such other factors as justice may 
require. 

(b) The gravity of the violation. This 
may include any of the following: 

(1) The frequency of the violation, 
taking into consideration whether any 
violation is an isolated occurrence, 
represents a pattern, or is widespread. 

(2) The level of financial and other 
impacts on affected individuals. 

(3) Other factors as justice may re-
quire. 

§ 158.608 Determining the amount of 
the penalty—mitigating cir-
cumstances. 

For every violation subject to a civil 
monetary penalty, if there are substan-
tial or several mitigating cir-
cumstances, the aggregate amount of 
the penalty is set at an amount suffi-
ciently below the maximum permitted 
by § 158.606 of this subpart to reflect 
that fact. As guidelines for taking into 
account the factors listed in § 158.607 of 
this subpart, HHS considers the fol-
lowing: 

(a) Record of prior compliance. It 
should be considered a mitigating cir-
cumstance if the responsible entity has 
done any of the following: 

(1) Before receipt of the notice issued 
under § 158.603 of this subpart, imple-
mented and followed a compliance plan 
as described in § 158.605(c) of this sub-
part. 

(2) Had no previous complaints 
against it for noncompliance. 

(b) Gravity of the violation(s). It should 
be considered a mitigating cir-
cumstance if the responsible entity has 
done any of the following: 

(1) Made adjustments to its business 
practices to come into compliance with 
the requirements of this part so that 
the following occur: 

(i) Each enrollee adversely affected 
by the violation has been paid any 
amount of rebate owed so that, to the 
extent practicable, that enrollee is in 
the same position that he, she, or it 
would have been in had the violation 
not occurred. 

(ii) The rebate payments are com-
pleted in a timely manner. 

(2) Discovered areas of noncompli-
ance without notice from HHS and vol-
untarily reported that noncompliance, 
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